RECEIVED

Nov 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES B. CURRY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002075

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in holding Appellant in contempt of court where the contempt sanction ordered violates Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights and holds Appellant in contempt for perpetuity?

II.

Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in holding Appellant in contempt of court for violating prior court orders prohibiting him from making frivolous filings where the prior orders were based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 24-27-100 to -500 which only applies to civil actions filed by inmates and not to collateral criminal proceedings in which an inmate challenges his conviction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted during the July 2007 term of the Chester County grand jury for one count each of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, kidnapping, and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. R. 107-114. In February of 2008, the state called Appellant's case to trial before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and a jury. Appellant represented himself *pro se*. Appellant was convicted as indicted and sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty-five years' imprisonment on the burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping charges, and ten years' imprisonment on the assault and battery charge. R. 115-118. Following his conviction, Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal before voluntarily withdrawing his appeal to pursue post-trial motions.

Appellant filed the first motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence on July 29, 2008. The motion was denied by Judge Goldsmith orally during a hearing in February 2009, and later in an order filed on March 18, 2010. R. 26-27. Appellant filed a second motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence on April 7, 2009. The Honorable Howard P. King heard arguments on the motion on October 5, 2009. By written order, Judge King denied the motion finding that none of the three grounds raised met the test for after-discovered evidence. R. 12-17.

Between 2008 and 2009, Appellant pursued five civil lawsuits related to his convictions. Four of the cases were dismissed for failure to comply with the Rule 4 and Rule 5, SCRCF. The final case was dismissed for failure to state a cause of action pursuant to Rule 8, SCRCF. In the order dismissing Appellant's final civil lawsuit, Judge King placed Appellant on notice of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-27-200 and § 24-27-300, the Inmate Litigation Act (ILA). The order specifically warned that should Appellant continue to file frivolous, repetitive, or unfounded lawsuits, or continue to place unreasonable demands on the Clerk of Court, he could be subject to potential

loss of earned work, education, or good conduct credits. It further stated that intentionally violating the order would be grounds to be held in contempt of court with the punishment being up to one year of incarceration consecutive to Appellant's current sentence. R. 20-23.

Appellant filed his first PCR action on May 14, 2010. A hearing was held on February 23, 2011, before the Honorable J. Earnest Kinard, Jr., and an order of dismissal was filed on April 20, 2011, finding that Appellant had not established any grounds for relief. R. 30-38. Appellant filed his second PCR action on March 28, 2012, alleging newly-discovered evidence. Judge Goldsmith issued a conditional order of dismissal finding the application barred as untimely and successive on October 1, 2012. R. 39-45. Based on Appellant's response to the conditional order of dismissal, a hearing was scheduled before the Honorable Clifton Newman on August 6, 2013. An order of dismissal was filed on December 23, 2013. R. 46-53. Appellant subsequently filed a motion for relief from judgement pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRCPP. The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons denied the motion by written order dated July 21, 2014, finding the motion was an attempted successive PCR application and finding the motion untimely. R. 56-57.

Appellant filed a third¹ motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. Judge Gibbons denied the motion by order dated December 4, 2014, finding that the claim was not after-discovered evidence. Additionally, Judge Gibbons proceeded to restrict Appellant's filing ability "[b]ased upon the repetitive and frivolous nature of Defendant's motions, and in reliance on In re Theron Maxton, 325 S.C. 3, 478 S.E.2d 679 (1996)." Judge Gibbons also referenced the order

¹ The order denying the motion states that this is Appellant's fourth motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence, not including his successive PCR applications or other dismissed lawsuits. However, the procedural history of the order only identifies two prior Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP motions, which aligns with the orders that have been issued in Appellant's various challenges to his convictions and sentences.

from Judge King which cited to S.C. Code Ann. §24-27-200 and admonished Appellant against the continued filing of frivolous lawsuits. R. 58-62.

In 2021, Appellant filed a fourth motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. heard the motion. Judge Griffith denied the motion in a written order dated November 5, 2021. Judge Griffith found that Appellant had not complied with the procedural steps put in place by the December 4, 2014 order of Judge Gibbons because he had failed to provide an accompanying affidavit certifying that the matter raised was not frivolous. R. 63-65.² In a later order, Judge Griffith found that Appellant's claim was without merit and again referenced Judge Gibbons's December 4, 2014. order. R. 66.

On April 5, 2022, Appellant filed a motion to be heard regarding a juror *voir dire* violation. An order denying that motion without a hearing was signed by Judge Gibbons and filed on April 14, 2022. R. 67. Appellant, on May 3, 2022, filed a motion for rehearing before the Chief Administrative Judge and a motion for Judge Gibbons to recuse himself from hearing further matters involving Appellant's convictions. By written order filed May 16, 2022, the motion for rehearing was denied, and a hearing was scheduled to address Appellant's motion to recuse Judge Gibbons. R. 68.

On July 20, 2022, a hearing was held before Judge Gibbons on Appellant's motion to recuse. Megan Jameson appeared on behalf of the Attorney General's office, and Candice Lively appeared on behalf of the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's office. Appellant appeared *pro se*. Judge Gibbons denied the motion for recusal. Thereafter, Judge Gibbons, on the court's own motion,

² Appellant also filed various motions to reconsider or rehear his various claims, as well as various appellate actions. The motions to reconsider were all denied on the grounds stated in the original orders and the appeals were dismissed for failure to comply with the appellate court rules.

found Appellant in violation of S.C. Code Ann § 24-27-200 and ordered that any work, education, or good conduct credits that Appellant had earned be forfeited for filing frivolous actions and willfully violating court orders. A written order containing Judge Gibbons rulings was filed on August 10, 2022. R. 69-72.

Appellant timely appealed Judge Gibbons's order forfeiting any work, education, or good conduct credits as improper, asserting the ILA only applied to civil lawsuits by inmates challenging prison conditions and could not be used to penalize the filing of challenges to a criminal conviction. This Court found the issue unpreserved in an unpublished opinion. State v. Curry, Op. No. 2024-UP-391 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 27, 2024).

On June 7, 2024, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss his convictions which prompted the circuit court to issue an order and rule to show cause as to why Appellant should not be held in criminal contempt of court pursuant to Judge King's December 17, 2009 order. R. 73-76. A hearing on the rule to show cause was held on November 21, 2024, before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. The state was represented by Candice Lively. Appellant was represented by William Frick. R. 77. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Hocker took the matter under advisement. A written order filed on November 26, 2024 found Appellant in contempt. R. 100-106.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A finding of contempt rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” DiMarco v. DiMarco, 393 S.C. 604, 607, 713 S.E.2d 631, 633 (2011) citing Durlach v. Durlach, 359 S.C. 64, 70, 596 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2004) (citation omitted). Such a finding should not be disturbed on appeal, unless it is unsupported by the evidence or the judge has abused his discretion. Id.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The circuit court abused its discretion in holding Appellant in contempt of court where the contempt sanction ordered violates Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights and holds Appellant in contempt for perpetuity.

Relevant Facts

The circuit court began the hearing by stating that Judge King issued an order in the last of Appellant's civil cases on December 17, 2009, "dismissing the case and indicating that they found the case to be frivolous, indicating that any future frivolous filings would subject the defendant to contempt sanctions up to one year consecutive to his previously imposed imprisonment on the criminal charges." R. 79, ll. 17-24. The court stated that further filings by Appellant challenging his conviction "resulted in an order from Judge Brian Gibbons in 2014 and also two orders from Judge Eugene Griffith in 2021, both indicating that any future frivolous filings would subject the defendant to be held in contempt of court." R. 80, ll. 1-9.

Appellant then filed a motion to dismiss his convictions. The court responded in a letter that the court lacked jurisdiction to hear the motion. The court also informed Appellant that he was not to respond to the letter of the court. Appellant responded to the court's letter requesting a hearing and a ruling on his motion. Appellant's response prompted the court to institute the contempt proceedings against Appellant. R. 80, l. 10 – 81, l. 1.

The Chester County Clerk of Court stated it had received fifteen filings from Appellant after Judge King's 2009 order but prior to Judge Gibbons's order of December 15, 2014. R. 81, l. 23 – 82, l. 1. Between Judge Gibbons's December 2014 order and Judge Griffith's November 2021 order, Appellant sent two filings and approximately twenty letters. R. 82, ll. 3-19. Between

Judge Griffith's November 2021 order and December 2021 order, Appellant sent six filings. R. 82, l. 19 – 83, l. 8. After Judge Griffith's December 2021 order, Appellant filed the motion to dismiss and sent nine letters to the Clerk's office. R. 83, ll. 9-24.

Counsel Frick argued that Judge King's order only dealt with civil filings. Appellant had understood Judge King's order, as well as the subsequent orders that referenced it, to mean that he would face contempt of court if he continued to file *civil* lawsuits. Since the order, Appellant had only submitted filings challenging his criminal convictions, and therefore, he was not in contempt. Counsel Frick continued that under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-27-300, the inmate must have made the same challenge on three prior occasions to be subjected to contempt. Since this was the second time Appellant had filed a challenge to the validity of his arrest warrant, under strict construction of the statute, Appellant had not violated the section. R. 84, l. 6 – 88, l. 21.

Appellant then addressed the court, stating that he should not be held in contempt because S.C. Code Ann. § 24-27-300 only applies to civil actions by inmates challenging their prison conditions and he had not filed a civil lawsuit. He argued the ILA did not apply to his case and that he could not be held in contempt "because both the United States and South Carolina constitutions require that individuals have access to criminal courts to assert their constitutional rights without fear from retribution from the courts." R. 89, l. 18 – 93, l. 19.

The circuit court noted that while Judge King's order dealt with civil matters, Judge Gibbons's 2014 order was in response to a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence which he found frivolous. That order continued that further frivolous filings would result in Appellant being held in contempt and did not mention civil filings. The court confirmed with the Clerk that after Judge King's 2009 order, Appellant had only filed criminal actions challenging his conviction. R. 94, l. 20 – 95, l. 23

An order holding Appellant in contempt was filed on November 26, 2024. R. (order). The court found that while Judge King's order dealt with civil matters, Judge Gibbons and Judge Griffith's orders dealt with criminal filings and Appellant had engaged in continued frivolous filing despite the orders. The court held Appellant in contempt but converted the citation to three counts of civil contempt. R. 100-106. The court sentenced Appellant to three consecutive five-month sentences to be served consecutively to his current sentence for an aggregate contempt sentence of fifteen months. The court allowed Appellant to purge himself of the contempt sentences writing:

From the date of this Order forward he shall have no contact with the Chester Clerk of Court's office either verbally or in writing which includes letters, motions, lawsuits or any other material in writing except as made by a S.C. licensed attorney on the Defendant's behalf. This same contempt finding and citation shall also apply upon the Defendant's release from incarceration from SCDC on his current sentence if the Defendant were to make contact with the Chester County Clerk's office as stated above.

R. 106. The court surmised "[s]imply stated, the [Appellant] will not have to serve a contempt sentence at any point in time if he refrains from making any contact with the Clerk's office. If he makes contact then the contempt sentence goes into effect." R. 106.

Discussion

"Civil contempt must be shown by clear and convincing evidence." DiMarco v. DiMarco, 393 S.C. 604, 713 S.E.2d 631 (2011) *citing* Poston v. Poston, 331 S.C. 106, 113, 502 S.E.2d 86, 89 (1998). "Criminal contempt must be shown beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. "In determining whether a contempt sanction is criminal or civil, one must identify the purpose for which the sanction is imposed. Whereas civil contempt is either coercive or remedial in nature, criminal contempt is purely punitive." Id. at 111, 502 S.E.2d at 88. "Incarceration may be either civil or criminal." Id. at 112, 502 S.E.2d at 89. "The distinguishing factor is whether the incarceration is for a definite period of time, which is the hallmark of criminal contempt, or whether the contemnor

may avoid or cut short the incarceration by complying with the court's directive, which indicates civil contempt.” Id. “The difference between the two is substantial because the constitutional safeguards provided in the Sixth Amendment may be triggered in criminal contempt proceedings. A contemnor has a constitutional right to a jury trial before a criminal sentence of more than six months incarceration may be imposed.” Id. citing Curlee v. Howle, 277 S.C. 377, 385, 287 S.E.2d 915, 919 (1982).

In DiMarco, *supra* our Supreme Court considered the propriety of a contempt sanction ordering a definite sentence suspended upon the payment of a fine. Petitioner was under court order to make monthly child support payments to Mother and had made payments for over a decade when Mother filed for an increase in support in 2006. The family court decreased Petitioner’s financial obligation and ordered that the payments be made through the court beginning on April 1, 2008. Petitioner attempted to make the initial payment under the new order, but the court lacked a record of the order and could not accept the payment. Id. at 606, 713 S.E.2d at 632.

The family court issued a rule to show cause because Petitioner was behind on his child support payments with a hearing scheduled for June 25, 2008. On June 23, 2008, Petitioner paid the arrearage bringing his child support account balance to zero. On the morning of the hearing, Petitioner did not appear on time and a warrant was issued for his failure to appear. Petitioner arrived at the courthouse shortly thereafter. Id. at 606, 713 S.E.2d at 632.

During the hearing, all parties acknowledged that Petitioner had met his financial obligations prior to the rule to show cause hearing. Counsel for Mother argued the court needed to hold Petitioner in contempt for “taking the law into his own hands and not showing up on time.” From the bench the family court ordered a sentence of twelve months civil contempt, suspended to \$250.00 court cost due by July 11, 2008. The written order also memorialized that Petitioner

was sentenced to twelve months incarceration, suspended upon payment of the fine. The family court had intended to hold Petitioner in civil, not criminal contempt. Id. at 606-07, 713 S.E.2d at 632-33.

This Court initially held that the contempt sanction had elements of both criminal and civil contempt. To remedy the unclear order this Court modified the family court's order and held that Petitioner must pay \$250 in court cost, and if he failed to do so by the deadline, he would be incarcerated for twelve months. Id. at 608, 713 S.E.2d at 633-34.

Our Supreme Court found that this sanction was violative of Petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights. Our Supreme Court held that a contempt sanction can be only criminal or civil, not both, because the sanctions serve different purposes. Id. at 608, 713 S.E.2d at 634. "A judge certainly may order both a civil and a criminal contempt sanction, and, in that case, the sanctions should be separate and distinct. That is not what the family court judge did in this case. The ordered sanction was purely punitive in nature as Petitioner was in full compliance with the support order and there was no necessary act to be compelled through the contempt sanction. Id.

While the court cost fine was an allowable criminal contempt sanction that punished Petitioner for his tardiness and lack of respect for the court, the definite twelve-month incarceration of Petitioner if he failed to pay the court costs on time violated Petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights. Id. at 608-09, 713 S.E.2d at 634. In explaining its ruling our Supreme Court wrote,

When incarceration is for a definite period of time and the contemnor may not purge the contempt by compliance with a court order, it is criminal incarceration and may trigger the protections of the Sixth Amendment. The court of appeals recognized the incarceration was for a definite period of time, but attempted to introduce a civil contempt element by saying Petitioner could avoid the sentence altogether by paying the court costs as ordered. There is no doubt Petitioner could avoid the incarceration by paying the costs, but clearly any litigant can avoid further sanctions by simple compliance. The problem with this order is that his noncompliance

would trigger a twelve-month, definite, non-purgeable incarceration, and our law requires Petitioner be afforded a jury trial before receiving such a sentence.

Id. at 609, 713 S.E.2d at 634.

The contempt sanction in Appellant's case, much like DiMarco, violates Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights. Appellant was originally brought into court on a criminal contempt citation for purportedly failing to abide by the orders of Judge King, Judge Gibbons, and Judge Griffith. The purpose of the rule to show cause, and subsequent finding of contempt, was to punish Appellant's alleged failure to comply with the orders. The circuit court punished Appellant by sentencing him to an aggregate fifteen month's incarceration. This definite sentence implicated Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights and he was entitled to a jury trial on the criminal contempt rule to show cause.

The circuit court attempted to convert the contempt sanction from criminal to civil in the order by setting a condition upon which Appellant could purge his contempt sentence. The condition: to never again contact the Chester County Clerk of Court. Were Appellant to contact the Clerk at any point in time after the date of the order, the contempt sentence would go into effect. While there is no doubt that Appellant could avoid additional incarceration by not contacting the Clerk, if he were to contact the Clerk, it would trigger a fifteen-month definite sentence. Before such a sentence can be imposed, our law requires Appellant be afforded a jury trial. See DiMarco, *supra*.

Further, the contempt sanction as fashioned works to hold Appellant in civil contempt for perpetuity, with the specter of a prison sentence waiting in the wings should he ever contact the Clerk. Such a restriction on an incarcerated individual's ability to access the courts is not in line with the law. "It is fundamental that '[p]risoners have a constitutional right of access to the courts.'" See Kocaya v. Kocaya, 347 S.C. 26, 29, 552 S.E.2d 765, 767 (Ct.App.2001). The

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