STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Oct 31 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002075

The State,Respondent,

v.

James B. Curry,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant’s argument that, by holding him in contempt of court “for perpetuity” and by imposing an aggregate fifteen months’ incarceration, the trial court (1) violated his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and (2) unconstitutionally restricted his access to the courts, is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the lower court. In any event, because the ordered sanction is not purely punitive and instead is contingent and intended to compel Appellant to refrain from certain acts, it is civil contempt and therefore does not implicate the Sixth Amendment.

Appellant argues the lower court abused its discretion in holding him in contempt of court where the contempt sanction ordered violates his Sixth Amendment rights and holds him in contempt “for perpetuity.” He contends the contempt sanction is criminal rather than civil because it is intended to punish his alleged failure to comply with prior court orders and because his noncompliance would trigger a fifteen-month, definite, non-purgeable incarceration. Consequently, Appellant argues that before that sentence can be imposed, our law requires that he be afforded a jury trial. Finally, Appellant argues that where the sanction was fashioned to hold him in civil contempt for perpetuity, with the specter of a prison sentence waiting in the wings should he ever contact the Clerk, it unconstitutionally restricts his access to the courts. (Brief of Appellant, p.7-p.13). The State disagrees and submits Appellant’s argument should be denied and dismissed for a number of reasons.

Issue Not Preserved for Appeal

First and foremost, the argument raised in Appellant’s brief is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the lower court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial

court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). This issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations. *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005).

In *Rhoad v. State*, this Court held that two consecutive six-month criminal contempt sentences are the equivalent of a one-year sentence, thus, the sentences were such that would normally entitle a defendant to a jury trial if he or she requested one. *Rhoad v. State*, 372 S.C. 100, 107, 641 S.E.2d 35, 38 (Ct. App. 2007). Nevertheless, the Court affirmed because, where Rhoad never requested a jury trial and never objected to the imposition of the contempt sentence without a jury trial, the Sixth Amendment issue was not preserved for appellate review. *Id.* at 108, 641 S.E.2d at 39. Here, neither Mr. Frick nor Appellant: (1) requested a jury trial, (2) argued Appellant had a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, or (3) argued Judge Hocker was somehow unconstitutionally restricting Appellant’s access to the courts. Thus, precisely as in *Rhoad*, regardless of whether there is any merit to the questions of whether Appellant was entitled to a jury trial or was being denied access to the courts, Appellant was obligated to bring those issues to the attention of Judge Hocker at the contempt hearing. Because Appellant failed to do so, this entire argument may not be addressed on appeal, and the lower court’s order should be affirmed.

Law / Analysis

Even if this Court determines Appellant’s argument is preserved for appellate review, it is without merit because the ordered sanction is *not* purely punitive and instead is contingent and intended to compel Appellant to refrain from certain future acts. Consequently, it is a civil

contempt sanction and therefore the constitutional safeguards provided by the Sixth Amendment were not triggered by Judge Hocker's order.⁴

Contempt Power

The trial court's power includes the ability to maintain order and decorum. *Stone v. Reddix-Small*s, 295 S.C. 514, 369 S.E.2d 840 (1988). Further, all courts have the power to demand submission to their lawful mandates. *Miller v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 443, 453, 652 S.E.2d 754, 759 (Ct. App. 2007). "Courts have no more important function to perform in the administration of justice than to ensure their orders are obeyed. The appellate courts of this state have zealously defended the right of trial courts to vindicate their authority by way of contempt." *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 74, 885 S.E.2d 442 at 454 (quoting *State v. Bevilacqua*, 316 S.C. 122, 128, 447 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1994)). Thus, the power to punish for contempt is inherent in all courts, and its existence is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings. *State v. Havelka*, 285 S.C. 388, 389, 330 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1985); *State v. Buchanan*, 279 S.C. 194, 196, 304 S.E.2d 819, 820 (1983); *In re Estate of Combis*, 439 S.C. 475, 493, 888 S.E.2d 1, 5 (Ct. App. 2023); *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 571, 611 S.E.2d 273, 275 (Ct. App. 2005). This power is not derived from any statute, but from the common law, which from its inception recognized this implied and necessary power, without which contumacious conduct could well destroy the court's authority. *State v. Goff*, 228 S.C. 17, 88 S.E.2d 788 (1952). The power is essential to the enforcement of judgments, orders and writs of court and consequently to the due administration of justice. *Passmore*, 363 S.C. at 571, 611 S.E.2d at 275; *Benedict v. Benedict*, 280 S.C. 508, 313 S.E.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1984). Nevertheless, contempt is an extreme measure and the power to adjudge a person in contempt is not to be lightly asserted. *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 74,

⁴ The question of whether Sixth Amendment safeguards might be triggered if Appellant ever faces allegations of violating the civil contempt order is a separate issue not currently before the Court.

885 S.E.2d at 454. Failure to comply with the directive of the court would certainly justify a finding of contempt. *Havelka*, 285 S.C. at 389, 330 S.E.2d at 289. Indeed, a circuit court does not abuse its discretion in finding a litigant in civil contempt where clear and convincing evidence showed he willfully disobeyed the court's order. *Combis*, 439 S.C. at 493-94, 888 S.E.2d at 5.

Proof of Contempt - General

A person may be found guilty of contempt if his conduct interferes with judicial proceedings, exhibits disrespect for the court, or hampers parties or witnesses. *Havelka*, 285 S.C. at 389, 330 S.E.2d at 288-89. Contempt results from the willful disobedience of an order of the court, and before a court may hold a person in contempt, the record must clearly and specifically demonstrate the acts or conduct upon which a finding is based. *Passmore*, 363 S.C. at 571, 611 S.E.2d at 275. A willful act is one done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law. *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 76, 885 S.E.2d at 455; *Passmore*, 363 S.C. at 571, 611 S.E.2d at 275. Before a court may find a person in contempt, the record must clearly and specifically reflect the contemptuous conduct. *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 75, 885 S.E.2d at 454. A finding of contempt must be reflected in a record that is clear and specific as to the acts or conduct upon which such finding is based. *Id.* at 75, 885 S.E.2d at 454-55.

Contempt – Civil versus Criminal

Although the contempt power is inherent and essential to the preservation of orderly proceedings, it is not unbounded; the power of criminal contempt is checked by the sacrosanct right to be tried by a jury of one's peers. *Passmore*, 363 S.C. at 572, 611 S.E.2d at 275.

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

U.S. Const. amend. VI. This provision requires a criminal contemnor be allowed a jury trial when facing a serious sentence, i.e. one of greater than six months in prison. *Passmore*, 363 S.C. at 572, 611 S.E.2d at 275.

Civil contempt must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 607, 713 S.E.2d at 633; *Combis*, 439 S.C. at 493, 888 S.E.2d at 5; *Hook*, 439 S.C. at 77, 885 S.E.2d at 455. Criminal contempt must be shown beyond a reasonable doubt. *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 607, 713 S.E.2d at 633. In determining whether a contempt sanction is criminal or civil, one must identify the purpose for which the sanction is imposed. *Id.* Whereas civil contempt is either coercive or remedial in nature, criminal contempt is purely punitive. *Id.* Incarceration may be either civil or criminal. *Id.* The distinguishing factor is whether the incarceration is for a definite period of time, which is the hallmark of criminal contempt, *or* whether the contemnor may avoid or cut short the incarceration by complying with the court's directive, which indicates civil contempt. *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 607, 713 S.E.2d at 633. The difference between the two is substantial because the constitutional safeguards provided in the Sixth Amendment may be triggered in criminal contempt proceedings. *Id.* The purpose of civil contempt is to coerce the defendant to do the thing required by the order for the benefit of the complainant, while the primary purposes of criminal contempt are to preserve the court's authority and to punish for disobedience of its orders. *Id.*

A sanction is either civil or criminal; it cannot be both because they serve different purposes. *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 608, 713 S.E.2d at 634. A judge certainly may order both a civil and a criminal contempt sanction, and in that case, the sanctions should be separate and distinct. *Id.* Where an ordered sanction is purely punitive in nature *and* there was no necessary act to be compelled through the contempt sanction, it is criminal contempt. *Id.*

Appellant likens his contempt sanction to the one found by our supreme court in *DiMarco* to have violated Petitioner's right to a jury trial. Yet, the contempt sanction here is distinguishable. In *DiMarco*, the Supreme Court noted that, at the time the family court ordered the twelve-month suspended confinement and \$250 in court costs payable by a certain date, the Petitioner was already in full compliance with the child support order and *there was no necessary act to be compelled through the contempt sanction*. *DiMarco*, 393 S.C. at 608, 713 S.E.2d at 634 (emphasis added). The Court recognized there was no doubt Petitioner could avoid the incarceration by paying the costs, but also recognized the costs themselves were a valid criminal contempt sanction imposed as punishment for Petitioner's tardiness and lack of respect for the court. *Id.* at 608-09, 393 S.E.2d at 634.

Here, the lower court did not impose *any* punishment which might constitute criminal contempt, such as court costs or a fine, and then suspend the fifteen-month sentence to compel Appellant to pay that monetary punishment. Instead, the contingent fifteen-month sentence was clearly intended to *compel necessary acts* from Appellant—namely, acts of refraining from frivolous, meritless, overly burdensome and redundant filings and correspondence with the Clerk's Office, unless made by a licensed South Carolina attorney on Appellant's behalf. Because Appellant can avoid the incarceration altogether *by performing the necessary acts*, the contingent punishment constitutes civil contempt despite the possibility of it being for a definite

period of time. Judge Hocker explicitly held Appellant in civil contempt and fashioned a civil contempt order with contingent incarceration to compel Appellant's future acts. That order, as it currently stands, should be affirmed.

As to Appellant's claim that he is being held in civil contempt for perpetuity and thereby being unlawfully denied access to the courts, his claim is likewise without merit. Initially, Appellant construes Judge Hocker's order too broadly. He was found in civil contempt for his frivolous and redundant filings related to his 2008 convictions – some of which were civil and some of which were criminal, but *all* of which attempted to attack those 2008 convictions. While Judge Hocker *did* use broad language about Appellant having no contact with the Chester County Clerk of Court, that order must be construed in the context of the subject matter of the case before Judge Hocker. The order should only be construed to extend to any filings or correspondence concerning the 2008 convictions, but should not extend to unrelated civil or criminal matters for which Appellant may require court access in the future. This reasonable construction or limitation on the order would eliminate the alleged infirmity.

In any event, even if construed broadly, the State submits that contrary to Appellant's claim, the order does not prohibit Appellant's ability to file any lawsuit, claim, or matter with the Chester County Court during his lifetime. It simply requires that he do so through a licensed South Carolina attorney. Our supreme court has placed similar restrictions in an effort to restrict filings from litigants who have engaged in a pattern of repetitive and frivolous filings. *See City of Columbia v. Assa'ad-Faltas*, 420 S.C. 28, 35, 800 S.E.2d 782, 785 (2017) (prohibiting Ms. Assa'ad-Faltas from filing anything with the court unless it is signed and filed by an attorney); *In re Maxton*, 325 S.C. 3, 5, 478 S.E.2d 679, 680 (1996) (instructing the Clerk not to accept any future filings unless they were accompanied by a properly notarized affidavit by Maxton that

certifies that he in good faith believes that the matter raised is nonfrivolous and proper for the court to consider in its original jurisdiction). The Supreme Court emphasized, there is no constitutional right of access to the courts to prosecute an action that is frivolous or malicious. *Assa'ad-Faltas*, 420 S.C. at 49, 800 S.E.2d at 793. Indeed, the right to proceed pro se as a criminal defendant is not absolute and may be forfeited when a litigant repeatedly abuses the judicial process. *Id.* at 33, 800 S.E.2d at 784.

In *Assa'ad-Faltas*, our supreme court explained how, over the course of twenty years, the defendant “engaged in a pattern of vexatious and disruptive conduct” that resulted in “diversion of limited judicial resources away from the many other complex and important matters pending before this Court.” *Id.* at 33-35, 800 S.E.2d at 784-85. A similar conclusion about Appellant was reached by Judge King when he noted that: “when frivolous, non-legitimate lawsuits are filed, or excessive and unreasonable demands are made on administrative personnel, access to justice by those citizens having legitimate matters is hampered and compromised” because this limits resources “that are necessary for the proper business of the court.” (R.p.20-p.23). While this conclusion directly concerned Appellant’s civil suits, it is equally applicable to his criminal filings in regard to diverting limited judicial resources.

The *Assa'ad-Faltas* court further found: “[Her] conduct and the overwhelming number of documents and exhibits she submits constitute a gross abuse of the justice system.” *Id.* at 37, 800 S.E.2d at 786. It noted that even in the trial at issue in the appeal, Assa’ad-Faltas “persisted in raising frivolous legal arguments and impertinent factual assertions.” *Id.* at 42, 800 S.E.2d at 789. Again, this is exactly the type of behavior exhibited by Appellant which resulted in repeated warnings from three separate lower court judges and ultimately the civil contempt finding by Judge Hocker. No matter how his behavior was labeled or described by those judges,

it was appropriately treated the same.⁵ Thus, as in *Assa 'ad-Faltas*, the prohibition on Appellant's contact with the Clerk, unless through a licensed attorney—even if done in perpetuity—was not an abuse of discretion under the facts of this case.

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